1951

John E. McNaughton and Henrietta McNaughton  
v. John B. Eaton, Myrtle Ross, James H. Fisher,  
Cuna Fisher, Rich Cooper, Edith R. Lawrence  
Cooper, Lee Murray, Theda Murray, W. S. Ross, and  
Fern Ross Fawcett : Brief of Defendants and  
Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF CASE

This is an action brought by plaintiffs, John E. McNaughton and Henrietta E. McNaughton, his wife, against the defendants to quiet title in plaintiffs to the water of a gulch commonly known as McNaughton Gulch running in a Southeasterly direction across plaintiffs' property situated in Uintah County, State of Utah.

Plaintiffs base their claim on prior appropriation of the waters of McNaughton Gulch flowing above and to an alleged permanent dam located midway in plaintiffs' property on the West line of the Northeast quarter of the Southwest quarter of Section 21, Township 4 South, Range 21 East, Salt Lake Meridian. (R. 26)

To the Amended Complaint the defendants filed an Answer in which they denied generally the allegations of the Complaint and asserted that they were the owners of all waters flowing in the McNaughton Gulch, the same having been adjudicated to them and their predecessors in interest in 1920 in an action wherein Thomas Mantle et al were plaintiffs and John B. Eaton et al were defendants, Civil Case No. 960, Uintah County, Utah, which rights were prior and superior to any right claimed by the plaintiffs and that defendants further claim said waters by virtue of prior appropriation. (R. 38-39)

There were no further pleadings filed and upon the issues thus raised a trial was had to the court, sitting without a jury, and on the 9th day of September, 1950, the trial court made and entered its Memorandum Decision (R. 48-65) and upon the 26th day of October, 1950, signed its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Decree, and the same were filed October 30, 1950. (R. 66-73)

By its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Decree, the trial court found against defendants and awarded the water in controversy to the plaintiffs.

In its Memorandum Decision, the court held that both parties to this cause had taken the position that the waters in question were public waters and subject to appropriation, each claiming "the right to their use by diversion and application to beneficial use during the period when such processes were all that were required to effect lawful appropriation." (R. 50.)

After making this observation, however, the court determined the case on the theory that the waters were not public waters but were diffused, seepage and percolating waters not subject to appropriation. (R. 50, 54, 65)

The defendants then filed a motion for a new trial upon the grounds that both plaintiffs and defendants had prosecuted the case on the theory that the waters involved were public waters subject to appropriation and for that reason defendants did not submit evidence on that point and requested permission to present evidence showing such waters to be public waters and on the further ground that the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Decree were not supported by the evidence. (R. 75) This motion was denied by the Court. (R. 82)

The defendants jointly and severally prosecute this appeal from the Decree entered against them on both questions of law and of fact. (R. 83)

The following statements of fact are established without conflict in the evidence:



The plaintiffs own land referred to in the record as the "East 40" and the "West 40" and which is particularly described in their Amended Complaint. There is a wash or gulch, know as McNaughton Gulch, which heads at a considerable distance Northwest from plaintiffs' land and which crosses plaintiffs' property running in a Southeasterly direction as shown on Def. Exh. No. 1 and Plaintiffs' Exhibit A, extending beyond plaintiffs' lands into and across and beyond lands of some of the defendants. Where the gulch ends does not appear from the record. It has existed from time immemorial with well defined course, bank and stream bed. The trial court so found in its Memorandum Decision. (R. 48)

In 1885 there was constructed an irrigation canal known as the Ashley Upper Canal which crossed the McNaughton Gulch approximately a mile Northwest of plaintiffs' property. Beginning in 1886 the portion of the gulch just below the canal was and still is used as a lateral of the Upper Canal system for a considerable distance down to the Carroll dam at which point all water in the gulch is diverted into what is referred to in the record as the Middle Ditch. (R. 48)

The defendants divert water from the gulch in a series of three dams, the upper one being located on the plaintiffs' property just inside the East boundary and the other two being situated below and to the East of plaintiffs' property. See defendants' Exhibit 1.



This controversy arose over the waters arising from springs along the bank and bottom of the gulch and flowing down the gulch, which flow steadily increases from approximately 1 C.F.S. in the distance of one mile from just inside the West boundary of the plaintiffs' land to from 3 to 7 C.F.S. (Tr. 64 and 126) flowing into the Ashley Central Canal where this canal crosses the gulch just below the diversion points of the defendants. This flow is constant and year round and varies only as do other creeks and streams in response to wet or dry season. (Tr. 22, 66, 67, 126). There is no evidence of surface waste waters running into the gulch. The bottom and sides of the gulch are covered with water cress, succulent grasses and willows, the former being indicative of a year round flow of clear, cold spring water. (Tr. 291). The court so found in its Memorandum Decision. (R. 50)

## ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The defendants jointly and severally assign the following errors upon which they, and each of them, rely for a reversal of the Decree and judgment appealed from and for the judgment of this court directing the trial court to make and enter judgment in favor of the defendants and against the plaintiffs.

### POINT ONE

That the trial court erred in deciding and disposing of the case on the theory that the waters involved were

diffused, waste, seepage and percolating waters and as such not subject to appropriation.

## POINT TWO

That the trial court erred in denying defendants' motion to reopen the case for the purpose of introducing evidence showing that McNaughton Gulch is a natural water course, that the waters flowing therein are in a well-defined channel, flow constantly throughout the year, and are public waters subject to appropriation, as they were considered by both parties at the trial.

## POINT THREE

The trial court erred in admitting in evidence over defendants' objection the Deposition of J. P. Rudy. (Tr. 225-6)

## POINT FOUR

The trial court erred in making numerous of its Findings of Fact in the following particulars:

a. The trial court erred in making that part of finding numbered 4 wherein it found: "that said gulch in its natural condition prior to 1885 was dry and no water flowed therein." That such finding is based upon the testimony of one witness, John A. Gardner, (Tr. 8) which testimony was not confined to any particular point on the gulch, and which testimony was not material to

any issue in the case for the reason that both parties were proceeding on the theory that McNaughton gulch was a natural water course. (R. 67)

b. The trial court erred in making that part of finding numbered 5 wherein it found: "that through the irrigation of these adjacent lands seepage and waste waters find their way by percolation, seepage and surface run-off to the McNaughton Gulch." That there is no evidence in the record of surface waste water running into the gulch and that such finding is not supported by the evidence. (R. 68)

c. The trial court erred in making that part of finding numbered 5 wherein it found: "that the amount of water thus finding its way into the McNaughton Gulch varies from day to day and from season to season, depending upon the irrigation practices prevailing on these adjacent lands; that the amount of water available for diversion from the gulch on to the McNaughton lands is not measurable; that in 1885 the amount of land surrounding the McNaughton Gulch which was being irrigated was not sufficient to produce any showing of drainage water from that source, either surface or subterranean, in the McNaughton Gulch." That such finding is contrary to the evidence and not supported thereby. (R. 68)

d. The trial court erred in making that part of finding numbered 6 wherein it found: "That the volume of seepage or waste water flowing into the McNaughton

Gulch has increased with the increase irrigation within its drainage area, but the flow at its lowest ebb is of a negligible amount.” That such finding is contrary to the clear preponderance of the evidence. (R. 68)

e. The trial court erred in making that part of finding numbered 6 wherein it found: “and all of the water thus finding its way into the McNaughton Gulch has its origin originally in the Ashley Upper Canal.” That this finding is not supported by the evidence. (R. 69)

f. The trial court erred in making that part of finding No. 8 where it found that the plaintiffs’ predecessors diverted water through one ditch running to the South and another ditch running to the North of said dam for the irrigation of the above described lands now owned by the plaintiffs.” That such finding is without support in the evidence and is contrary to the clear preponderance of the evidence. (R. 69)

g. The trial court erred in making that part of finding numbered 9 wherein it found: “That prior to 1900 a network of ditches was constructed on the McNaughton properties described above from the Carroll Dam and the McNaughton Dam located near the Southeast corner of the West 40 acre tract, which dam has been mentioned above; that water could and can be diverted from the McNaughton Gulch and could and can be applied to all of the McNaughton lands described above, except approximately three acres in the Northwest corner of the West 40 acre tract, and approximately four acres located South of the McNaughton Gulch on the West 40 acre

tract and the waters from the gulch have been used on said lands since the two dams referred to were first constructed.” That such finding is contrary to the evidence. (R. 70)

h. The trial court erred in making that part of finding numbered 11 wherein it found: “There is no evidence that any of these conditions (cresses, grasses and willows) pertained prior to 1886 before canal water was first applied in the drainage area, but the evidence is and the court finds that the gulch was dry prior to said time.” That there is no evidence to support this finding. (R. 70)

i. The trial court erred in making that part of finding numbered 12 wherein it found: “that all of said dams used by the defendants to divert water from the McNaughton Gulch were constructed after the dam maintained by the McNaughtons near the Southeast corner of the West 40 acre tract.” That such finding is without support in the evidence, and is contrary to the clear preponderance thereof. (R. 71)

## POINT FIVE

The trial court erred in making its conclusions of law in the following particulars.

a. The trial court erred in its conclusions of law contained in paragraph 1 thereof in so far as it concludes: “That none of the defendants have any rights in any of the waters flowing in the McNaughton Gulch above the dam maintained by the McNaughtons near the South-

east corner of the West 40 acre tract, and they and each of them should be enjoined from attempting to divert or use said water or from claiming any right or ownership thereto." That such conclusion of law is without support in either the evidence or findings of fact, and the same is contrary to law. (R. 71)

b. The trial court erred in its conclusions of law contained in paragraph 2 thereof in so far as it concludes: "That the water flowing into the McNaughton Gulch above the last mentioned dam at the Southeast corner of the West 40 acre tract is owned by the plaintiffs." That such conclusions of law is without support in either the evidence or the findings of fact, and the same is contrary to law. (R. 71).

## POINT SIX

The trial court erred in making its decree in the following particulars:

a. That the trial court erred in its Decree in the third paragraph thereof insofar as its decrees: "That the natural depression (the McNaughton Gulch) which runs in a Southeasterly direction across the above described lands as is set forth fully in the Findings of Fact, is by nature a dry wash; that the waters accumulating therein, which are the subject matter of this dispute, have their origin in irrigated lands adjacent to said wash, and that said waters are seepage or waste waters which find their way through percolation into said

natural wash or depression which is commonly known as the McNaughton Gulch.” That such is without support in the evidence. (R. 72-73)

b. That the trial court erred in its Decree in the fourth paragraph thereof insofar as it decrees: “That the plaintiffs are the owners of the right to use all of the water accumulating in the McNaughton Gulch between the diversion dam located on property now owned by Roy Carroll immediately West of the above described McNaughton property as described in the Findings of Fact, and the McNaughton Dam which is located immediately North of the Southeast corner of the West 40 acre tract described above, which said McNaughton Dam is more fully described in the Findings of Fact, and also to use the water from the Gulch on the McNaughton land located to the North of the McNaughton Gulch, and that none of the defendants have any right to use any of the said water, and plaintiffs’ title to said water is hereby quieted, and the defendants and each of them is hereby enjoined from using said water or attempting to use the same, or from claiming any interest of any kind therein.” That such decree is without support in either the evidence of the Findings of Fact and is contrary to law. (R. 73)

c. That the trial court erred in its Decree in the fifth paragraph thereof wherein the court decreed: “That the plaintiff, John E. McNaughton, is the owner of the right to use all the water thus accumulating in the channel between the Roy Carrol Dam and the Mc-



Naughton Dam for the irrigation of the lands described above, and are decreed to have the right to maintain a tight diverting dam across the channel of the McNaughton Gulch at the point where the McNaughton Dam is now maintained immediately North of the Southeast corner of the West 40 acre tract described above, and to divert and use all of said water from the McNaughton Gulch at that or any other point on the McNaughton property above the said McNaughton Dam." That such decree is without support in either the evidence of the Findings of Fact and is contrary to law. (R. 73)

## A R G U M E N T

### POINT ONE

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DECIDING AND DISPOSING OF THE CASE ON THE THEORY THAT THE WATERS INVOLVED WERE DIFFUSED, WASTE, SEEPAGE AND PERCOLATING WATERS AND AS SUCH NOT SUBJECT TO APPROPRIATION.

While the written memorandum decision made by the court below may not take the place of or serve to modify or contradict the Findings of Fact, yet such opinion may be looked to to interpret and explain the Findings. *Christensen v. Nelson*, 73 Utah 603, 613; 276 Pac. 645. It will be seen from a reading of the court's memorandum opinion that the trial court based its written memorandum opinion solely upon the assumption that the waters involved in this controversy were diffused, percolating and seepage waters and as such not subject to appropriation. It is also made to appear

that all of the parties to this proceeding directed their evidence to the use that had been made of the water since before 1900. In making this statement we have not overlooked the fact that John A. Gardner testified to the effect that in 1885 the McNaughton Gulch was dry. (T. 24) Mr. Gardner, however, does not state what time of the year it was when he observed the gulch was dry, what kind of a year it was as to precipitation or any other fact that would enable one to determine whether the condition of the gulch at the time it was observed by Mr. Gardner was a temporary or a permanent condition. In its written opinion the court below recognized the fact that it was deciding the case on a theory other than that upon which the case was tried. In justification for doing so the court cites the cases of *Gladhill et al v. Malouf*, 58 Utah 105, 197 Pac. 725 and *Nelson et al v. Sanpete County* 40 Utah 560; 123 Pac. 334.

It is the established law that a party in an action may not on appeal change the theory upon which a case is tried in the trial court. *Holman et al v. Christensen*, 73 Utah 389; 274 Pac. 457. The rule precluding a party from changing the theory of his case in the appellate court is recognized by the cases cited by the court below. Doubtless the principal basis for the rule is that if a case is tried upon one theory and then upon a review by the appellate court a different theory is urged, such change in theory may well deprive a party to the action of the opportunity of producing evidence of controlling importance when viewed in the light of the theory ad-

vanced for the first time in the appellate court. If a party to an action is deprived of an opportunity to produce evidence bearing upon the theory finally adopted by the court in disposing of the action, it would make no difference whether such deprivation was brought about by a change of theory after trial, in the trial court or the appellate court.

Thus, this case was tried on the theory that the water in controversy had been public waters subject to appropriation and the evidence of all the parties was directed to the question of their respective priorities in the use of such waters. There was no occasion to offer any evidence touching the question of the water in controversy being subject to appropriation during the course of the trial because there was no issue or controversy about that matter. The defendants were not called upon during the course of the trial to offer such evidence as they had in support of their claim that the water in dispute was such water as might be appropriated where as here throughout the trial no one contented that such waters were not or had not been subject to appropriation. For the court to decide the case on a theory entirely different from that to which all the evidence was directed deprived the defendants of a fair trial. Who can say that if the defendants had been advised that there was some question about the waters in dispute being subject to appropriation, the defendants could not have established such fact beyond controversy.

Moreover, such evidence as was received in this case shows that the waters in dispute were public waters subject to appropriation at the time the same were appropriated by the defendants. The evidence shows and the trial court found that the formation of the McNaughton Gulch was not within the memory of man, heading at the top of a large drainage area, and from its nature, course and direction, it is logical to conclude that it was caused only from storms and seasonal run-off of melting snows. (R. 48) The evidence is that the gulch is still subjected to floods in times of torrential storms. (Tr. 76, 100) It may be inquired: "How else has any natural water course ever been formed?" In its memorandum decision the trial court from the evidence and testimony accurately described the gulch as it crosses plaintiffs' lands, varying from 3 to some 12 to 14 feet in depth and from 3 to 5 rods in width, with precipitous banks of clay and sand which are constantly sluffing off, tending to widen the Gulch. Lands on both sides of the gulch slope towards it so that the natural drainage of considerable acreage is toward the gulch in addition to it forming a collection area for sub-surface waters. (R. 49) The court also noted, as was also described by various witness for both parties, that all along the sides and bottom of the gulch through plaintiffs' property, water is seeping, oozing into the stream channel. That in several places definite springs exist and that grasses, water cress, and willows grow all along the gulch. (R. 30) How else can one more accurately describe the formation, history and existence of a natural water course? It is

unfortunate that there is no evidence as to the head, end, length, type of water and other characteristics which would be helpful in this determination, but this absence can only be attributed to the theory upon which the trial was had and the trial courts denial of defendants' motion for a new trial which was timely made after learning that the court had disregarded the trial theory and made its decision upon the theory that the waters of the gulch were not public waters.

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