1951

John E. McNaughton and Henrietta McNaughton
v. John B. Eaton, Myrtle Ross, James H. Fisher,
Cuna Fisher, Rich Cooper, Edith R. Lawrence
Cooper, Lee Murray, Theda Murray, W. S. Ross, and
Fern Ross Fawcett : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

I. APPELLANTS HAD A FAIR TRIAL

Throughout appellants' brief it is asserted that the parties both "proceeded" upon the theory that the waters in the McNaughton Gulch were subject to public appropriation. This simply isn't true, and nothing in the record can be or has been cited by appellants to

demonstrate the correctness of it. Reference to the pleadings will show that the plaintiffs simply pleaded in general terms that they were the owners of the right to use for irrigation and stock watering purposes the water arising in the McNaughton Gulch from seepage, percolation, or otherwise, between the Carroll dam and the big dam described in the Statement of Facts. The pleadings do not state that said claim of ownership was based upon public appropriation. The basis of that claim of ownership was not set forth at all (R. 27). There was no pretrial, no interrogatories were served, and the case went to trial on the plaintiff's general allegation of ownership. Reference to the transcript of the evidence fails to show any opening statement by counsel for the plaintiffs. Therefore, if appellants did rely on the water being public, they did so without having had any right to do so.

Further, during the course of the trial, on the second day, respondents made it clear that they were not admitting that this was a water course. At Page 201 of the transcript the plaintiff was asked whether or not he claimed to own this water during the wintertime. The plaintiff answered that he claimed it for stock watering purposes and then said, "I don't want to tie myself down on this period when the water arises on our property. It is a different position than where you are out on some other property." Counsel for the appellants then said, "Well, all of the water rising on your property arises in the natural water course of the McNaughton Draw?" Counsel for respondents then made this ob-

jection: "I object to the characterization of it as a water course, to the form of the question, your Honor, as something that is not in evidence." Certainly from this the appellants should have realized that McNaughton was claiming that the water which arose on his property was not governed by the general law of appropriation.

From the beginning of this case, when the complaint was filed, to the end of the trial, there is nothing in the record which can be pointed to as an admission by the respondents that they would not rely upon this being private water. There was a great amount of evidence directed to the question of the source of the water. If we had abandoned the private ownership theory, all of the evidence directed toward the fact that this water had its origin in private irrigation would have been immaterial.

Further, every witness who testified was exhaustively examined concerning his knowledge of the conditions on the gulch as far back as he could remember. No witness called could have added anything to the record in this regard.

At the close of the evidence, when the matter was argued, the trial judge asked counsel for the plaintiffs if he thought the doctrine of private ownership could be sustained. Counsel for the plaintiff confessed that he did not think so in view of the authorities which will be discussed in Section 2 hereof, and particularly in view of the case of *Lehi Irrigation Company v. Jones*, 202 P. (2d) 982. It is because of this confession made *at the*

argument that the trial court noted in its memorandum decision that both parties had taken “the position that the waters in question are public waters and thus subject to appropriation” (R. 40). It should be noted that the court did not find or comment upon the parties having “proceeded” through the trial on that theory. We therefore assert with full assurance that the record does not contradict us, that defendants were not misled.

NO SHOWING ON MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL

Perhaps the most conclusive thing, however, against this argument by appellants that they did not have a fair trial is the fact that upon their filing of a motion for new trial no affidavits were filed to show that appellants could have or would have submitted any new or different evidence. Reference to the record will show that the court handed down its memorandum decision on September 14, 1950 (R. 65). At that time the appellants certainly knew the theory upon which the case had been decided. There was a delay from September 14th to September 28th before the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were prepared and served on the defendants (R. 74). Thereafter, the trial court delayed for nearly a month in signing and entering the findings and the decree (R. 73). The motion for new trial was filed on November 9th (R. 76) which was nearly two full months after the court’s memorandum decision. The motion for new trial was not argued until December 8th (R. 82) so that for nearly three full months the appellants knew that the court had decided the case on the theory that this water had

its origin in private irrigation and that it was private water. They, nevertheless, failed to locate any new evidence of any kind which would have any materiality on that issue and offered no affidavits and made no showing as to how they were prejudiced by the deciding of the case on that theory.

Appellants say at Page 14 of their brief, "Who can say that if the defendants had been advised that there was some question about the waters in dispute being subject to appropriation, the defendants could not have established such fact beyond controversy." The law is that the duty is on them to show at the time the motion for new trial is heard that they had new evidence and what it would have been. This court will not presume that such evidence existed, nor will it presume prejudice.

In this regard, it would not be possible to find a stronger case in support of our position than the case of *Beckstead v. Brinton*, 105 Utah 395, 142 P. (2d) 409. There the trial court throughout the trial told the parties that he was following the law of the State of Utah, not the O. P. A. regulations; that he was not interested in the "slightest" in whether the respondent in good faith wanted the premises for his own use. He made the statement not only once but on numerous occasions throughout the trial and thus discouraged counsel from inquiring into that question. Then, without advising counsel of his change in views, the judge made findings that the owner in good faith wanted the premises for his own use. This was claimed to be prejudicial error. No affi-

affidavits were filed in support of the motion for new trial. The Supreme Court said that it must assume that the trial judge, before making the findings, considered the evidence presented. It then said:

“In the absence of a showing on motion for a new trial that appellants were prejudiced by the lack of notification, that the court had experienced a change of mind, we must presume that they were not prejudiced by such failure to be apprized.”

If in the face of such an emphatic declaration during the trial as was made in the *Brinton* case, this court will not assume prejudicial error, certainly it should not make such an assumption in this case. The duty was clearly upon the appellants in arguing their motion for new trial to show the court by affidavit or otherwise wherein they were prejudiced. When a motion is made, as this one was, upon the theory that the court surprised the parties by deciding the case on a theory not argued, the persons making the motion have an absolute duty of advising the court as to the evidence which they would put in if a new trial were granted.

Rule 59(a) sets forth the grounds upon which a motion for new trial may be made. The motion made herein could only conceivably come under grounds 3 or 4. Rule 59(c) expressly requires an application for new trial based upon sections 3 or 4 to be supported by affidavit. It requires that these affidavits be served with the motion, and that time be allowed for the opposing

party to serve opposing affidavits. This rule was completely disregarded by the appellants. They had three full months after having been notified in court by a lengthy memorandum opinion as to the court's theory. They had one month after the findings were served on them within which to object to the findings and they had over one month after the decree was entered within which they could have procured affidavits. They totally ignored Rule 59 and now on appeal their total showing as to prejudice is to ask the question, "Who can say that they would not have been able to find evidence if a new trial had been granted?" Under the holding of *Beckstead v. Brinton*, supra, they have utterly failed to show any prejudice.

We, therefore, respectfully submit that the defendants were not misled. The pleadings of general ownership, the evidence relating to the source of the water, and the express comments made (R. 201) certainly put them on notice that the water was claimed to have its origin in upper irrigation, and that it might be decided that the McNaughton Gulch was a private water course. If the court could possibly conclude in the face of the record that they were misled during the trial and that they were thus surprised by the trial judge's opinion, they had a duty to make a showing in support of their motion for new trial, as required by Rule 59. This they utterly failed to do. This court, under the authorities, will not presume that other or different evidence was available, nor that they were prejudiced.

II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THIS WAS A PRIVATE WATER COURSE?

The appellants assert that the evidence shows that this was public water subject to appropriation. They fail to tell the court how such a conclusion, if reached, would help them. We will demonstrate under Point III hereof, that even if this is public water, the evidence conclusively shows and the trial court expressly found that the plaintiffs were prior in time and in right to any of the defendants. We will address ourself first to the correctness of the trial court's conclusion that these waters were private waters, and will then proceed under Point No. III to demonstrate that even if the court did err in its conclusion of law, it nevertheless was correct in its facts and result.

We submit that under the evidence outlined above the court correctly found that prior to 1885 the McNaughton Gulch was a dry gulch (R. 4 and 16). The flow of water in the McNaughton Gulch had its origin in upper irrigation. Gardner testified that in 1885 the gulch was a dry gulch and that in 1886 there was not much land being irrigated along the gulch; and that there was little water in the gulch except canal water (R. 16). Rudy said that the flow of water in the gulch increased from year to year (R. 234). Lewis testified that the flow in the gulch would come after they started irrigating the farm lands above (R. 82). Carroll said that there is not much water in the gulch after irrigation stops (R. 56). Frank Lee said that the gulch carried

seepage water, and that there was not much seepage in the wintertime (R. 37). Both Carroll and McNaughton testified that the stream was made up of seepage water and waste water from upper irrigation (R. 41 and 158). The judge observed the premises and the drainage areas on each side of the McNaughton Gulch. The evidence was conclusive that the drainage from the irrigated lands flows into the gulch both on the North and South side thereof. From this testimony the trial court found that the water in question had its origin in the irrigation of upper lands.

Since this finding is warranted by the evidence, we have the question of law as to whether or not this makes the water private water owned by the person on whose land it arises. In this regard the trial court has written a detailed eighteen-page memorandum decision which analyzes the development of the law in the state of Utah. We refer the court to the record, page 48, for this decision. We will not attempt here to re-present the trial court's reasoning. We note only that in the case of *Smithfield West Bench Irr. Co. v. Union Central Life Ins. Co., et al.*, 105 U. 468, 142 P. (2d) 866, the court was dealing with seepage and waste water much as that involved here. The court refused to decide whether or not waters of this nature were subject to appropriation. Judge Wolfe noted at page 479 that in the absence of statute it is generally held that such waste water and seepage water cannot be appropriated. However, in that case no one had filed on the water after 1903 and there was no showing of a diligence right prior to 1903

when filings with the State Engineer were not necessary. The court simply raised the question as to whether or not these waters could be appropriated.

In the *Wrathall v. Johnson*, 86 Ut. 50, 40 P. (2d) 755, the court did say that waters which have their origin in private irrigation are not subject to the law of appropriation.

The later case of *Riordian v. Westwood*, 203 P. (2d) 922, was dealing with water which had its origin in natural sources, and the trial court here distinguished that case on that ground. Therefore, at least until the case of *Lehi Irrigation Company v. Jones*, 202 P. (2d) 982, this court had never affirmatively stated, as far as my research reveals, that waters having their origin in artificial irrigation were subject to public appropriation.

In the case of *Lehi Irrigation Co. v. Jones*, supra, everyone conceded that the spring in question had increased in flow because of the fact that upper irrigators had applied Deer Creek water on Provo Bench. The waters left Provo Bench and had found an outlet in a spring which arose on the ground of Jones. Jones filed on the water on the theory that it was open to public appropriation. The *Lehi Irrigation Company* protested the filing because it had always used all of the flow from the spring. The court affirmed the State Engineer in approving the application of Jones. In doing this it indicated that such waters were subject to appropriation after they reach a natural source and commingle with other waters.

In view of the *Jones* case, we thought that at least as against everyone except the irrigators who waste the water from their land this court had held that the waters were subject to public appropriation. We, however, note that there is a distinguishing feature between this case and the *Jones* case, in that here the waters found their way to what had been a dry gulch and never lost their identity by commingling with water from natural sources, while in the *Jones* case the waters found their way to a natural water course and commingled with waters which had their origin in natural sources and thus lost their identity. If this distinction is sound, and the trial court argues that it is, then the trial judge should be affirmed upon the basis presented in his memorandum decision.

III. EVEN IF THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE WATERS WERE PRIVATE WATERS, IT NEVERTHELESS ARRIVED AT A CORRECT RESULT.

It is well established under the Utah cases that a trial court will be affirmed if its decision is right in result, even though the wrong reason is stated for it. There are many cases so holding, but a very recent one is the case of *Tree v. White*, 110 Utah 233, 171 P. (2d) 398. The court says:

“ ‘A decision right in result will not be reversed even though the reason stated for it is wrong. 3 Am. Jur., p. 563.’

‘See also *Rosehill Cemetery Co. v. Chicago*, 352 Ill. 11, 185 N. E. 170, 87 A. L. R. 742 and 3 Am. Jur. p. 367, Sec. 825.’

‘The appellant may not prevail unless there has been error in the result as well as error in the reasoning.’ ”

The appellants here simply argue that the trial court erred in reasoning that the waters in question were private waters. They urge that the court should have found that the waters were public waters subject to appropriation. They then neglect to proceed to tell the court what conclusion the trial court would have been compelled to reach from its findings of fact had it concluded that these were public waters.

The trial court found in favor of plaintiffs on every issue of fact necessary to establish a prior appropriation. The evidence is uncontradicted that the Carroll Dam was the first diversion on the McNaughton Gulch, that the McNaughton Dam was second, and that both were constructed prior to 1895. It is also uncontradicted that both dams were built prior to any of the defendant's dams (R. 10, 19, 21, 43, 74, 139, 234). Plaintiffs diverted all of the water which came down to those dams because the lower dam was a permanent, tight dam (R. 12, 15, 19, 63, 73, 100, 140); all of the waters thus diverted were necessary to irrigate the 80 acre farm (R. 29, 101, 221) and at times it was necessary to augment these waters with canal waters (R. 152). The diversion by plaintiffs was made prior to 1903, when water could be appropriated in Utah simply by diversion and use. See *Wellsville-East Field Irrigation Co. v. Lindsay Land & Livestock*, 104 Utah 448, 137 P. (2d) 634. The court from the evidence so found on each of these issues of fact. This

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